STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Nov 18 2021
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ALYSSA ANNE DAYVAULT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-001515

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial judge erred in allowing the state to join two separate homicide by child abuse charges against Appellant at the same jury trial where the alleged acts took place thirteen months apart from one another and the joinder of the indictments resulted in extreme unfair prejudice to Appellant by allowing the state to argue that she killed two of her newborn children on separate occasions?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Horry County Grand Jury for two counts of homicide by child abuse. R. 296-299. Appellant's trial was held before the Honorable Steven H. John and a jury from October 12 – 15, 2020. Appellant was represented by Sharde Crawford and Kia Wilson. The state was represented by Scott Hixson, Joshua Holford, and Cara Walker. R. 51.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. The judge sentenced Appellant to forty-years-imprisonment on each count. R. 289, l. 7 – 290, l. 1.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A motion for severance is addressed to the trial court and should not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion is shown.” State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 164, 478 S.E.2d 260, 265 (1996). A trial judge’s decision to allow joinder of charges that do not arise from a single course of conduct, are not of the same general nature, are not proved by the same evidence, and prejudices a defendant’s substantial rights is an abuse of discretion. State v. Beekman, 415 S.C. 632, 639, 785 S.E.2d 202, 206 (2016); State v. Tate, 286 S.C. 462, 334 S.E.2d 289 (1985) (reversing prejudicial joinder because “nothing in this record shows these two forgeries are connected”).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 5, 2018 Appellant “presented to North Strand ER with heavy vaginal bleeding and a dangerously low hemoglobin.” R. 140, l. 23 – 141, l. 8. Dr. Jessica Brown, who was admitted as an expert in obstetrics and gynecology, recalled that Appellant had an elevated pregnancy hormone level indicating that she was possibly pregnant. R. 141, ll. 16 – 19. Dr. Brown initially believed Appellant was having a miscarriage. R. 142, ll. 12 – 22.

According to Dr. Brown, Appellant denied being pregnant and stated that she was using birth control. However, Appellant had recently switched birth controls and Dr. Brown believed Appellant may have gotten pregnant between the use of the two birth controls. R. 143, ll. 10 – 25. Appellant was admitted to the hospital to receive blood and Dr. Brown scheduled a surgery for the following day. R. 144, ll. 4 – 18.

The next day, Dr. Brown began a surgical procedure on Appellant for “an incomplete miscarriage,” at which time she discovered that Appellant had a “full-term placenta with a cord” in her uterus. R. 145, ll. 1 – 18. Dr. Brown removed the placenta. R. 145, l. 19 – 148, l. 3. While Appellant was recovering from surgery and waking up from the anesthesia, Dr. Brown spoke to Appellant’s boyfriend and mother to ask whether they were aware of Appellant having recently given birth to a baby. They both denied knowing Appellant was pregnant. R. 148, ll. 12 – 25. Dr. Brown admitted that she did not know whether Appellant gave birth to a live, viable, or healthy baby. R. 157, l. 17 – 158, l. 5.

On December 11, 2018, officer Erin Beasley with SLED, and officers Chris Bellamy and Will Lynch with the North Myrtle Beach Police Department, went to Appellant’s house to interview her about her recent hospital visit. R. 164, l. 2 – 165, l. 11. This interview was video

and audio recorded on Lynch's body worn camera. State's Exhibit 16 (DVD First Interview of Defendant 12/11/18 on file with this Court).

Appellant initially denied having recently been pregnant and giving birth to a child. State's Ex. 16 at 1:20 – 5:50. However, after continued questioning, Appellant informed the officers that she had given birth to a stillborn¹ baby in the bathroom of her house and that she took the body to the "Hillside dump"² to dispose of it. State's Ex. 16 at 6:40 – 8:20; State's Ex. 16 at 12:48 – 13:00; state's ex. 16 at 21:10 – 21:35; R. 174, ll. 8 – 18. Appellant maintained that after she gave birth, she "blacked out" for approximately twenty minutes and that when she woke up the baby was blue and unresponsive. State's Ex. 16 at 18:00 – 19:25; R. 174, l. 19 – 175, l. 22.

After the first interview ended, the officers retrieved security video from the Hillside dump in an attempt to find video footage of Appellant dumping the body. However, the officers did not see Appellant on the video. R. 170, ll. 19 – 24; R. 180, l. 11 – 181, l. 7.

Officers interviewed Appellant a second time at the North Myrtle Beach Police Department and confronted her about having not seen her on the Hillside dump video cameras. R. 190, ll. 3 – 16; State's Ex. 17 (DVD Second Interview of Defendant 12/11/18 on file with this Court). After being confronted with this information, Appellant told the officers that she had placed the body of the baby that was stillborn in December of 2018 into the trashcan at her

¹ Appellant later answered affirmatively to Beasley's question that the baby was born "alive and died in [Appellant's] arms." State's Ex. 17 at 15:30 – 16:00 (DVD Second Interview of Defendant 12/11/18 on file with this Court).

² Beasley recalled that "the dump on Hillside" was "right down the road from [Appellant's] house." R. 169, ll. 16 – 22.

house. State's Ex. 17 at 13:00 – 15:00. Officer's then searched the trashcan and recovered the body.³ R. 195, l. 17 – 196, l. 19.

During both of the interviews of Appellant, the officers also questioned Appellant about a previous visit to the hospital in November of 2017.⁴ State's Ex. 16 at 5:50 – 6:20. Appellant stated after her hospital visit in November of 2017, she gave birth to a baby in her old apartment and that she “gave that baby up.” State's Ex. 16 at 6:20 – 6:45; state's ex. 16 at 15:00 – 15:30. However, Appellant later told the officers that this baby was also dead. Beasley asked Appellant if her baby from November 2017 was also stillborn, to which Appellant responded that it was. State's Ex. 16 at 8:20 – 8:40. Appellant told the officers that this baby was born with the umbilical cord wrapped around its neck, took one gasp, “and that was it.” State's Ex. 17 at 16:45 – 17:25; R. 175, l. 23 – 220, l. 6. Beasley also asked Appellant if she put that baby's body in the trash as well and Appellant responded that she had. State's Ex. 16 at 10:30 – 11:00. The body of this baby was never recovered.

³ Dr. Nicholas Batalis, who was a forensic pathologist at the Medical University of South Carolina, performed an autopsy on the body of the recovered baby. R. 225, l. 14 – 229, l. 6. Dr. Batalis testified that his autopsy found “essentially no explanation for the child's death” from a medical or physiological standpoint. R. 232, ll. 12 – 22. Dr. Batalis further testified that the child being placed in an “oxygen-depleted environment” and dying from asphyxia would be consistent with his findings. R. 239, l. 22 – 240, l. 9.

⁴ During the officers' initial investigation of Appellant's December 2018 hospital visit, they discovered that Appellant had also been to a different hospital approximately thirteen months earlier in November 2017. R. 184, l. 13 – 186, l. 5. Officers learned from Appellant's medical records that the doctor who she saw in November 2017 discovered that Appellant was approximately thirty-six weeks pregnant at that time. The doctor who saw Appellant in November 2017 also detected a fetal heartbeat that was “very good.” R. 212, l. 20 – 213, l. 17.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in allowing the state to join two separate homicide by child abuse charges against Appellant at the same jury trial because the alleged acts took place thirteen months apart from one another and the joinder of the indictments resulted in extreme unfair prejudice to Appellant by allowing the state to argue that she killed two of her newborn children on separate occasions.

Relevant Facts

The solicitor made a pretrial motion to join the two indictments against Appellant and proceed to trial on both charges at the same time. R. 37, l. 25 – 38, l. 23. The solicitor argued that joinder was proper pursuant to State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996) because Appellant’s video recorded statements were the primary pieces of evidence for both offenses and that it would be “very difficult, if not impossible, to separate the evidence of the second birth with the first birth.” R. 38, l. 24 – 39, l. 14.

The solicitor argued in the alternative that, if the trial judge did not grant its joinder motion, the first birth should be admissible in a trial of only the second birth pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE as evidence of “lack of accident, motive, and intent.”⁵ R. 40, l. 1 – 41, l. 12. The trial judge indicated that before ruling on the motion he would need to review the medical records and hear testimony from the doctors that treated Appellant on both occasions, so the motion was continued. R. 46, l. 1 – 47, l. 11.

At the following hearing the solicitor called Dr. Karyn Markley, who testified that she was an OBGYN who treated Appellant after the surgical removal of the placenta in December of

⁵ The solicitor originally said he was not arguing that the first birth could be admissible in a trial of only the second birth pursuant to the common scheme or plan exception. R. 40, ll. 2 – 8. However, the solicitor later told the trial judge that “to some degree . . . common scheme or plan may very well apply in this case as well.” R. 68, l. 24 – 69, l. 8.

2018. R. 78, l. 24 – 80, l. 23. Dr. Markley did not treat Appellant for her hospital visit in November of 2017. However, she recalled that in her treatment of Appellant, she reviewed Appellant’s past medical records which included records from an emergency room visit in November of 2017. R. 81, l. 21 – 82, l. 16. The medical records from November of 2017 indicated that Appellant was between thirty-six and thirty-eight weeks pregnant at that time. R. 82, l. 17 – 83, l. 16.

Dr. Markley further testified that, based on her review of Appellant’s hospital records from November of 2017, the pregnancy was “viable,” which Dr. Markley defined as “the potential capacity to transition from life in the womb to life outside of the womb.” R. 91, l. 22 – 92, l. 21. However, Dr. Markley admitted that she could not say whether the pregnancy was “healthy.” R. 93, ll. 3 – 10. Dr. Markley did not testify before the jury at Appellant’s trial; she only testified at the pretrial hearing for the state’s joinder motion.

The state argued that the charges should be joined because both were provable by the same evidence – Appellant’s statements to law enforcement – and because they were of the same general nature. R. 95, l. 10 – 96, l. 25. Defense counsel pointed out that the two homicide charges Appellant was indicted for did not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and were two separate dates and separate medical events. R. 98, ll. 9 – 14. Counsel also argued that the two incidents were not provable by the same evidence because Appellant went to two different hospitals and was treated by different doctors. R. 98, l. 15 – 99, l. 8. Appellant’s statements to law enforcement regarding the two births were also notably different. Regarding the first birth in November of 2017, Appellant told the police that the baby was born with the umbilical cord wrapped around its neck. As to the second birth in 2018, Appellant told the police that immediately after she gave birth, she “blacked out” and when she woke up, the baby was dead.

R. 99, ll. 8 – 20. Finally, defense counsel cited to State v. Smith, 322 S.C. 107, 470 S.E.2d 364 (1996) and argued that Appellant would be unfairly prejudiced by the joinder of the charges because the jury would be improperly influenced by hearing allegations that Appellant had killed two of her newborn children on two separate occasions. R. 99, l. 21 – 100, l. 14.

The trial judge ruled that the state could proceed on both indictments against Appellant. The judge found that there were “glaring similarities to both of the crimes,” and that the allegations were “of a nature that are closely related in kind, place, and character.” R. 100, l. 16 – 101, l. 25.

Discussion

“Charges can be joined in the same indictment and tried together where they (1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances, (2) are proved by the same evidence, (3) are of the same general nature, and (4) no real right of the defendant has been prejudiced.” State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 164, 478 S.E.2d 260, 265 (1996). “Generally, when offenses charged in separate indictments are of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place, and character, the trial judge has the discretion to order the indictments tried together, but only so long as the defendant's substantive rights are not prejudiced.” State v. Cutro, 365 S.C. 366, 374, 618 S.E.2d 890, 894 (2005) (internal footnote omitted). “Offenses are considered to be of the same general nature where they are interconnected.” State v. Simmons, 352 S.C. 342, 350, 573 S.E.2d 856, 860 (Ct. App. 2002). “Conversely, offenses which are of the same nature, but which do not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and are not provable by the same evidence may not properly be tried together.” Id.

Here, the trial judge erred in allowing Appellant to be jointly tried on the two indictments for homicide by child abuse. The two charges did not “arise out of a single chain of

circumstances.” Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 164, 478 S.E.2d 260, 265. Further, the charges were not provable by the same evidence because Appellant was treated by different doctors, at different hospitals, and in different years. Although Appellant was questioned about both incidents in the same video recorded statements, these statements could have been redacted so that the jury would have only heard evidence of one of the incidents. In fact, severing the two charges and redacting the statements was the only way to ensure Appellant received a fair trial. While the charges were similar in nature, they were far from identical and the unfair prejudice that Appellant suffered because of the joinder was insurmountable.

In ruling that the indictments against Appellant could be joined, the trial judge focused primarily on the “glaring similarities” of both allegations against Appellant. However, the judge failed to consider the other elements of joinder. The two charges for which Appellant was indicted occurred more than one year apart from one another and had absolutely nothing to do with one another. The judge erred by finding that “these crimes are of a nature that are closely related in kind, place, and character” while ignoring the extreme prejudice Appellant would suffer by joining the indictments. R. 100, l. 15 – 101, l. 25.

Appellant’s case is readily distinguishable from the decisions in other joinder cases where separate criminal offenses have been found to “arise out of a single chain of circumstances.” For instance, in State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996), the defendant forced the victim into her house at gun point and shot her to death. In the days immediately following this murder, the defendant broke into a church, another person’s house, and killed another person while attempting to steal a car and money to evade the police. Id. at 160-61, 478 S.E.2d at 263. The Supreme Court found that joinder of the first murder and the subsequent burglary charges was proper because the defendant committed the burglaries “solely to avoid capture by police for

the [murder].” Id. at 164, 478 S.E.2d at 265. See also State v. Beekman, 415 S.C. 632, 636-38, 785 S.E.2d 202, 204-05 (2016) (joinder of lewd act on a child and first-degree CSC with a minor of separate victims was proper where the victims were siblings and the alleged offenses took place in the same house over the same time period); City of Greenville v. Chapman, 210 S.C. 157, 161-62, 41 S.E.2d 865, 866-67 (1947) (holding joinder was proper for twenty-three counts of adulteration of milk where every offense was “identical” except for the dates, and every offense arose out of the same contract whereby defendant was obligated to provide victim with 400 gallons of milk every day); State v. McGaha, 404 S.C. 289, 293-95, 744 S.E.2d 602, 605 (Ct. App. 2013) (holding joinder of numerous counts of CSC with minor against two siblings proper where the abuse happened during the same time period and location); State v. Carter, 324 S.C. 383, 478 S.E.2d 86, 88 (Ct. App. 1996) (holding joinder of threatening the life of a public official with attempted armed robbery was proper where defendant threatened the life of the officer who was in the process of arresting him for the attempted robbery).

Thus, in Tucker, Beekman, Chapman, McGaha, and Carter, the crimes were interconnected and properly joined. Unlike each of those cases, here, there was no connection whatsoever of the two separate charges. The charges did not take place over the same time period, indeed they occurred more than one year apart from one another. The charges against Appellant simply cannot be said to be “in substance, a single course of conduct or connected transactions.” Beekman, 415 S.C. at 637, 785 S.E.2d at 204.

In State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 339 S.E.2d 692 (1986), the Supreme Court found that joinder was improper where the defendant escaped from prison and raped and murdered two different women on two consecutive days. The Middleton Court held that the two murders did not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and required different evidence for proof. The

Court reversed Middleton’s convictions noting that the prejudice to him was “apparent.” Id. at 23-24, 339 S.E.2d at 693. Similarly, in State v. Tate, 286 S.C. 462, 334 S.E.2d 289 (Ct. App. 1985), this Court found that joinder of two separate forgeries was reversible error. The Tate Court noted that even though the forgeries were of the same general nature, they were not a single course of conduct, nor were they connected transactions. Id. at 464, 334 S.E.2d at 290. This Court also held that the defendant was unfairly prejudiced by the joinder because “it [was] likely the jury would infer criminal disposition based on evidence of one forgery and on that basis alone find [the defendant] guilty of another forgery.” Id.

The charges against Appellant were also not provable by the same evidence. See State v. Tallent, 430 S.C. 438, 446, 845 S.E.2d 508, 512 (Ct. App. 2020) (holding joinder of CSC with minor and contributing to the delinquency of a minor was proper where the victims of the respective crimes were siblings and all of the crimes were provable with the same witnesses). Appellant was treated by two different doctors, at two different hospitals, in two different years. There was no body discovered from the November 2017 case and in fact, the only evidence that a baby was even born was Appellant’s video recorded statement. Contrary to the solicitor’s argument that it would be “impossible” to try the charges separately, the only piece of overlapping evidence was Appellant’s recorded statements which could have easily been redacted to ensure Appellant’s right to a fair trial was not violated.⁶

While there are some similarities between the two charges against Appellant, they are certainly not identical as in Chapman, 210 S.C. 157, 41 S.E.2d 865 and McGaha, 404 S.C. 289, 744 S.E.2d 602. Appellant maintained that the first child was born with the umbilical cord

⁶ The parties agreed to substantial redactions of both of Appellant’s video statements indicating that the state was more than capable of redacting the videos to avoid violating Appellant’s right to a fair trial. R. 103, l. 1 – 124, l. 25.

wrapped around its neck and was already dead. As to the second child, Appellant maintained that after the child was born, she blacked out and when she “came to,” the baby was dead.

Finally, the joinder of the charges resulted in extreme unfair prejudice to Appellant by suggesting she had a propensity to kill her newborn children. The unfair prejudicial impact of introducing evidence that Appellant, not once, but twice killed her newborn babies more than one year apart from one another cannot be overstated. There was no way Appellant could receive a fair trial as to either one of the charges.

Furthermore, had the charges been severed, evidence of one would not have been admissible in the trial of the other. This Court noted in McGaha that “[i]n cases where the defendant argues prejudice from the admission of evidence of the other charges tried in the same case, our courts have analyzed whether evidence of one or more charges would be admissible in a trial involving only the other charge.” McGaha, 404 S.C. at 298, 744 S.E.2d at 606.

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