RECEIVED

Dec 13 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

vs.

ALYSSA ANNE DAYVAULT,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2020-001515

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1276
Conway, SC 29528

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err by allowing both homicide charges to be tried together because both births and deaths were discovered at the same time through the same investigation, arose out of a single chain of circumstances, were proved by substantially the same evidence, and were part of the same common scheme or plan, carried out the same way and united by the same motive.

Dayvault argues the trial court erred in allowing the joinder of both homicides, emphasizing the thirteen months' separation between the two deaths. Of course the passage of Dayvault's second pregnancy occupies nine months of that time frame. And uniting the two charges is the same motive to conceal the pregnancies. Further, Dayvault employed the same method of concealing her crimes each time and offered the same excuses. Note the first death would not have been discovered but for

Dayvault's hospital visit shortly after giving birth to the second child. Therefore, the charges arise out of the same set of circumstances. Further, the facts supporting each charge are probative of intent for the other, particularly to prove the extreme indifference the prosecution necessarily needed to prove as an element of homicide by child abuse.

As the trial court observed, criminal charges may be tried together where they (1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances, (2) are proved by the same evidence, (3) are of the same general nature, and (4) no real right of the defendant has been prejudiced. State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996). Where the offenses charged in separate indictments are of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place and character, the trial judge has the discretionary power to order the indictments tried together if the defendant's substantive rights would not be prejudiced. State v. Cutro, 365 S.C. 366, 618 S.E.2d 890 (2005); McCrary v. State, 249 S.C. 14, 36, 152 S.E.2d 235, 246 (1967) (stating "[t]he two offenses were of the same general nature, involving connected transactions closely related in time, place and character; and the trial judge had power, in his discretion, to order them tried together over objection by the defendant in the absence of a showing that the latter's substantive rights would have been thereby prejudiced.").

Both charges arose out of a single chain of circumstances

Both charges arose out of a single chain of circumstance: Dayvault became pregnant, hid the pregnancy, hid the child; she became pregnant again approximately four months later, hid the second pregnancy, hid the second child. Both births and deaths were discovered at the same time from the same investigation that ensued when Dayvault was treated at the hospital and a fully formed placenta was found inside her, but the child that went with the placenta was missing. This led to review of Dayvault's medical records showing yet another child from approximately a year earlier was also

missing. Accordingly, both charges arose out of the same investigation, an investigation of two missing persons, but one mother who should know.

The Supreme Court rejected a “restrictive reading of the phrase ‘a single chain of circumstances.’” State v. Beekman, 415 S.C. 632, 637, 785 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2016) (citing City of Greenville v. Chapman, 210 S.C. 157, 161-62, 41 S.E.2d 865, 867 (1947) (explaining courts should avoid the “inflexible application” of the rule that charges must arise out of the same set of circumstances to allow joinder and if “it does not appear that any real right of the defendant has been jeopardized, it would be a refinement not demanded by the law or by justice to require in all instances a separate trial”)).

The Supreme Court found, “[W]e agree with the court of appeals that ‘the two charges against Beekman arose from in substance, a single course of conduct or connected transactions.’” Id. (citation omitted). “In other cases, even though the charges did not arise out of a single, isolated incident, this court and the court of appeals have allowed joinder when the crimes ‘involv[ed] connected transactions closely related in kind, place, and character.’” Id. at 637, 785 S.E.2d at 205 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). “Of course they are distinct crimes, but that in no manner diminishes the glaring similarities in Beekman molesting both of his stepchildren in the same place, over the same time period, and in a similar manner.” Id. at 638, 785 S.E.2d at 205. The Supreme Court noted, “For joinder of related offenses, our appellate courts have recognized that there may be evidence that is relevant to one or more, but not all, of the charges.” Id. The Supreme Court referenced Tucker – in which joinder of burglary and murder was proper because the defendant broke into a church and mobile home while a fugitive for murder – and noted Beekman ignored “the fact that the evidence needed to prove Tucker committed the murder was necessarily

different than the evidence needed to prove Tucker broke into the church and mobile home.” *Id.* at 639, 785 S.E.2d at 206.

In the present case, the prosecution needed two doctors to prove two pregnancies, but the rest of the evidence consisted of law enforcement and their interviews simultaneously investigating both deaths, plus evidence relating to the second child’s remains. Even if the evidence was different to prove the corpus delicti of both crimes, both deaths are connected in kind, place, and character. The deaths occurred in Dayvault’s residence, when Dayvault birthed in isolation and concealed both pregnancies from the same boyfriend. Both children, allegedly dying of respiratory difficulties, were disposed of in the trash without medical care and without Dayvault calling 911. Both died for the same reasons satisfactory to Dayvault, not only to avoid the financial and work implications of unwanted children but also to avoid discovery of the pregnancy by her mother whom she feared.

Dayvault relies on City of Greenville v. Chapman, 210 S.C. 157, 41 S.E.2d 865 (1947). In that case, the defendant was charged with twenty-three counts of adulterating milk. The evidence showed the defendant added water to the milk which was provided under contract to a single customer that was the victim of all the charges. The first crime was alleged to occur on February 10, 1944, and the last on September 20, 1945. So it was not “everyday” as Dayvault recites in the parenthetical to her citation of the case. Five counts were abandoned, so Chapman was tried on 18 counts across a 19-month time span. Without much explanation of the facts in the case, the Supreme Court observed the charges were supported by evidence provided by the same witnesses. The Supreme Court rejected a restrictive reading of “the same transaction” argued by Chapman “where the warrant was founded upon what was in substance a single criminal course of conduct.” *Id.* at 161, 41 S.E.2d at 867.

Likewise, across only a thirteen-month timespan, the charges in the instant case, in substance, arose from a single course of conduct. The conduct behind both charges was identical: Dayvault became pregnant twice, both times while dating and living with her boyfriend, the presumptive biological father. Both times she hid her pregnancy from him and her mother. She avoided prenatal care even though, in both cases, she sought treatment for herself. Both times she gave birth in secret and disposed of the child, in secret. She provided the motive for both of the crimes in her statements to the police: She hid the pregnancies for financial reasons, to avoid disruption of her career, and to avoid judgment by her mother. The two homicides represent manifestations of the same course of conduct fueled by the same motive.

Dayvault complains the deaths in the instant case were separated by thirteen months. In State v. Cutro, 365 S.C. 366, 618 S.E.2d 890 (2005) (hereinafter Cutro 2), the deaths of two children were separated by nine months' time. Further, the common scheme or plan in the instant case necessarily took the length of a pregnancy to unfold, unlike Cutro 2. Therefore, Dayvault's primary argument does not posit a circumstance outside the boundaries of discretion entrusted to the trial court. Dayvault cites Cutro 2 for the basic law on joinder, but neglects to distinguish Cutro 2 despite its factually similar scenario in which two homicide abuse charges were united under a common scheme or plan and the same motive.

Cutro 2 involved, as in the instant case, the joinder of two homicide by child abuse charges for two different children. A third charge was for assault and battery of a third child, and Cutro was acquitted of that charge. The first child, Parker, ceased breathing and perished while in Cutro's daycare on January 4, 1993. Another child, Asher, suffered permanent brain damage while in daycare in June 1993. Ashlan, the third child, became the second fatality when he died at Cutro's

daycare in September 1993.

The Supreme Court already reversed the conviction for the killing of Ashlan in a prior opinion based on improper admission of the other incidents as prior bad acts because the Court found the prosecution failed to establish clear and convincing evidence of those acts. State v. Cutro, 332 S.C. 100, 504 S.E.2d 324 (1998) (Cutro 1). Cutro argued in Cutro 2 that her convictions upon retrial should have been reversed because the trial court erred in joining the three charges. The Supreme Court noted prior bad acts not the subject of conviction could only be admitted if established by clear and convincing evidence. However, when joining charges for joint trial, “procedural safeguards are already in place that eliminate the need for preliminary fact-finding by the trial judge . . . [because the charges are] subject to judicial procedures such as indictment and preliminary hearing.” In Cutro 2, the prosecution’s theory of the case was the acts were committed with the same motive, characterized as Munchausen Syndrome by Proxy (MSBP), a form of child abuse committed by the perpetrator to garner sympathy and attention for the perpetrator. Id. at 370, 618 S.E.2d at 892. The abuse in all three cases was inflicted by the same method, Shaken Baby Syndrome, in the same place, the daycare. The Supreme Court found joinder was proper, concluding: “These offenses clearly fit within the Lyle categories for common scheme or plan and motive.” Id. at 375, 618 S.E.2d at 895.

Unlike the scheme in Cutro 2, individual manifestations of Dayvault’s scheme took the length of a pregnancy to execute, and therefore, after the November 2017 death of the first baby, Dayvault executed the common scheme when she became pregnant the second time and, like the first pregnancy, concealed the second pregnancy. Both pregnancies were discovered by authorities at the same time, and Dayvault admitted both children’s deaths to law enforcement at the same time. As in Cutro 2, the charges arose out of the same set of circumstances as part of the same common scheme

or plan and committed with the same motive.

The charges were proved by substantially the same evidence. The treating doctor from the prior pregnancy was the only significant witness testifying solely to the first charge. The same investigation determined both children were missing. More importantly, evidence of one charge is admissible as to the other charge even if Dayvault was tried separately for both charges.

In State v. McGaha, 404 S.C. 289, 297, 744 S.E.2d 602, 606 (Ct. App. 2013), this Court found, “Thus a substantial portion of the testimony the State presented at trial to prove the crimes against one child was the same evidence it would have used to prove the crimes against the other. Even though some of the evidence related only to one child, we find the evidence described above supports the trial court’s determination that the separate charges would be proven by the same evidence.”

Likewise, in the instant case, some evidence also related to only one infant, but important witnesses and evidence would be used to prove the crime against the other infant. One doctor (Dr. Brown) testified about treating Dayvault after the second pregnancy, while another doctor treated Dayvault during the first pregnancy. However, both charges were uncovered at the same time because it was only when Dayvault was found with a full term placenta and no child that law enforcement became aware of two missing children from two different pregnancies. Detective Lynch investigated both missing child cases simultaneously, it was the same investigation. Dayvault was interviewed at the same time for both charges and concomitantly discussed both pregnancies.

Even if tried separately, each homicide would be admissible as an extrinsic act for the prosecution of the other homicide.

Each crime is admissible evidence probative of proving the other crime. Prior bad acts may

be admissible when they establish (1) motive; (2) intent; (3) absence of mistake or accident; (4) a common scheme or plan; or (5) identity of the person charged. State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). “Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent.” Rule 404(b), SCRE.

Intent

Each crime was admissible to prove intent in the other crime. State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 118, 470 S.E.2d 366, 369 (1996) (holding defendant’s involvement in armed robbery a half hour before charged armed robbery was admissible to prove defendant’s intent to rob second store) *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Giles, 407 S.C. 14, 754 S.E.2d 261 (2014); State v. Simmons, 310 S.C. 439, 427 S.E.2d 175 (1993) (“The evidence of appellant’s violence against elderly women, each of whom was alone in her home at the time of the attack, makes more probable appellant’s criminal intent when he entered [victim’s] house since he already knew her to be an elderly woman.”) *reversed on other grounds by* Simmons v. South Carolina, 512 U.S. 154 (1994).

In the instant case, Dayvault’s intent was the chief focus of the case. A person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if (1) the person causes the death of a child while committing child abuse or neglect; and (2) the death occurs “under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.” S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-85(A)(1). “Child abuse or neglect” is defined under the homicide by child abuse statute as “an act or omission by any person which causes harm to the child’s physical health or welfare[.]” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-85(B)(1).

“To prove a defendant guilty of homicide by child abuse, the State must demonstrate ‘the

death occur[ed] under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.” State v. Phillips, 411 S.C. 124, 767 S.E.2d 444 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting section 16-3-85). “Extreme indifference is in the nature of a culpable mental state and therefore is akin to intent.” State v. Jarrell, 350 S.C. 90, 98, 564 S.E.2d 362, 367 (Ct. App. 2002) (citation, ellipses, and internal quotation marks omitted). “In this state, indifference in the context of criminal statutes has been compared to the conscious act of disregarding a risk which a person’s conduct has created, or a failure to exercise ordinary or due care.” Id. The meaning of extreme indifference to human life in the context of a homicide by child abuse case is consistent with recklessness and indifference in reckless homicide cases. State v. McKnight, 352 S.C. 635, 645, 576 S.E.2d 168, 173 (2003). Thus, extreme indifference to human life can similarly be equated to “a conscious failure to exercise due care or ordinary care or a conscious indifference to the rights and safety of others or a reckless disregard thereof.” Id. (quoting State v. Tucker, 273 S.C. 736, 739, 259 S.E.2d 414, 415 (1979)). Each crime was probative evidence of the other because the requisite intent – extreme indifference – was the critical issue at trial.

In Simmons, the defendant was charged with murder and burglary in which the defendant broke into an elderly woman’s house and crushed her skull by beating her with a toilet tank lid. During the guilt phase of the capital trial, the defense conceded murder but challenged the burglary charge which was the only statutory aggravating factor for the penalty phase. The defense alleged the prosecution could not prove the defendant entered the residence with an intent to commit a crime therein. The prosecution presented the defendant’s confessions to three other burglaries in which the defendant physically and sexually assaulted elderly women. Simmons, 310 S.C. at 440-42, 427 S.E.2d at 176-77.

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